FILE COPY



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA PREME C

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Petitioner Below, Respondent,

v. NO. 21-0424

.

٠,

CANDICE T. SALMONS, Respondent Below, Petitioner. Case No. Below 16-F-71 Circuit Court of Wyoming County

DO NOT REMOVE

FROM FILE

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

G. Todd Houck WVSB# 5674 Hrko Building 105 Guyandotte Avenue Mullens WV 25882 (304)294-8055 gthouck@aol.com Counsel for Petitioner, Candice T. Salmons,

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) The Circuit Court Erred in Not Granting Petitioner's Motion for Acquittal for the Charge of Breaking and Entering
- 2) The Circuit Court Erred in Not Granting Petitioner's Motion for Acquittal for the Charge of Grand Larceny

1. A. S.

3) The Circuit Court Erred in Not Granting Petitioner's Motion for Acquittal for the Charge of Conspiracy

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 26, 2015, The Petitioner, Candice Salmons (Petitioner) and David Laney (Laney) visited the home of a friend, Jerry Goins, Jr (Goins). Goins had requested Petitioner and Laney to come over to his home and shoot pool, at this time Goins was living with his parents Jerry and Melissa Goins. AR¹ 61-62.

According to Goins, his parents were out of the home on a 4 day holiday to Tennessee. AR 63. During that evening Goins stated he found Petitioner looking through his mother's closet, but did not see her remove anything from of the home, nor did he notice anything missing. AR 64-65. Goins stated that he had been drinking throughout the day, and admitted that he could have passed out and someone else came in the home after Petitioner had left. AR 66-67. Goins stated he did not see Petitioner or Laney steal anything from his home. AR 67-68

Goins' father Jerry Goins Sr. testified that they were in Tennessee for a week AR 70 and when he and his wife Melissa Goins returned from Tennessee he noticed several items were missing, including a class ring, but he didn't remember what all was missing. AR 72. He

¹ Refers to Appendix Record and the numbering references the number at the bottom right page.

testified the following items were missing: \$2,000 worth of jewelry; \$700-800 of clothes; a \$2,000.00 dill; and his class ring valued at \$207. AR 73. On cross he admitted he had no proof or receipts that he even owned the items declared missing or stolen. AR 75.

5a) - 5a

Goins' mother Melissa Goins testified that when she came home from Tennessee she noticed her closet was out of order. AR 78. That she had a lot of clothing, jewelry and purses that were missing. She offered that in her "guestimaiton" she was missing 5-6 rings and valued the missing items at \$17,000.00. AR 78-83.

Tina Riffe testified that Petitioner had sold her purses, clothes, make-up and a bracelet. AR 110-11 & AR 209-212. She also testified that a friend of her bought two purses from Petitioner. Riffe ultimately returned the items to Melissa Goins.

Jennifer Justice testified that she bought a purse and some shirts that apparently came from Melissa Goins home; however, the witness was unable to identify the property depicted in the State's exhibit. AR 131-132 & 211. According to Justice, Petitioner told her she took the items for Melissa Goins' home. AR 134.

Petitioner denied any involvement of a crime to the investigating officer, Trooper Shifflette. AR 137. Trooper Shifflette stated that Melissa Goins and her husband had collected several items of personal property that were stolen from their home and he documented those items by photographs which ultimately became some of the State's exhibits. AR 140- 141 & 207-213.

After speaking with individuals in the neighborhood – some of the herein witnesses, Trooper Shifflette acquired a search warrant for Petitioner's home; however, no stolen property was found. Petitioner was arrested and interviewed and denied any involvement in the burglary

of Melissa Goins' home. AR 144.

· . · · .

Trooper Shifflette testified that the property Melissa Goins' reported stolen was valued over a \$1,000.00. AR 148 and the value of the recovered property was \$810 2-29. As to the valuation of the property stolen or recovered, the trooper testified he found the values on the internet or values supplied by Melissa Goins. AR 156.

At the conclusion of the State's evidence, Petitioner's then attorney moved for a judgement of acquittal contending: a) that Petitioner did not unlawfully or feloniously break and enter or enter without breaking inasmuch as Petitioner was invited. The only evidence relating to this entry was from Jerry Goins, Jr. who stated on the spur of the moment he walked over to Petitioner's home and invited her and Laney back to his house. No other evidence exists regarding any planning or conspiring to enter any home or commit a crime therein; 2) there existed no credible evidence to support a value as to the items alleged stolen. The only exhibits of the items recovered were \$810.00. There were allegation of other items stolen but no evidence was presented that the actual property existed; there existed no evidence to suggest Petitioner made an agreement with anyone to commit a crime. They were invited over on the spur of the moment without any preplanning or any evidence that Petitioner and/or Laney and/or Goins had concocted any criminal plan. Additionally, there was no evidence presented that Laney or Goins knew, assisted or benefitted from Petitioner's alleged crime. AR 159-162.

The Defense offered no witnesses and the jury convicted Petitioner on all three counts, AR 253-254. The Petitioner was sentenced to the West Virginia Division of Corrections for a 1-15 year sentence. AR 300-302.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

That the Circuit Court erred by not directing a verdict in favor of Petitioner and erred in finding that the evidence presented at trial was sufficient to establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt as to the charges of : breaking and entering; grand larceny; and conspiracy.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Because the principle issues in this case have been authoritatively decided prior cases, oral argument under rev. R.A.P. 18(a) is not necessary unless the Court determines that other issues arising upon the record should be addressed. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review

٠.

.

In reviewing a claim that the evidence at trial was insufficient to convict, this Court has stated that a de novo standard of review is applied to the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal based upon the sufficiency of the evidence and the evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution. *State v Vilela* 792 S.E.2d 22, 238 W.Va. 11 (2016).

The trial court's disposition of a motion for judgment of acquittal is subject to our *de novo* review; therefore, this Court, like the trial court, must scrutinize the evidence in the light most compatible with the verdict, resolve all credibility disputes in the verdict's favor, and then reach a judgment about whether a rational jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 304, 470 S.E.2d 613, 623 (1996)

2. The Circuit Court Erred in Not Granting Petitioner's Motion for Acquittal for the Charge of Breaking and Entering

The crime of burglary is defined in W.Va.Code, 61-3-11(a), as: If any person shall, in the nighttime, break and enter, or enter without breaking, or shall, in the daytime, break and enter, the dwelling house, or an outhouse adjoining thereto or occupied therewith, of another, with intent to commit a felony or any larceny therein, he shall be deemed guilty of burglary."

In *State v. Louk*, 285 S.E.2d, 169 W.Va. 24 (1981), this court recognized the our statue is consistent with the conclusion of most courts that the burglary is complete once there has been an unauthorized entry and a showing that there was an intent to commit a felony citing – *State v. Van Brocklin*, 598 P.2d 938 (Alaska 1979); *Patterson v. Commonwealth*, 251 Ky. 395, 65 S.W.2d 75 (1933); *State v. Rand*, 430 A.2d 808 (Me.1981); *State v. Revelle*, 301 N.C. 153, 270 S.E.2d 476 (1980); 13 Am.Jur.2d Burglary § 1 (1964).

"The crime of burglary is complete when the defendant makes an unauthorized entry into a structure if at the time of his entry into the building he entertains the actual intent to commit a specific crime therein, which may be theft by unauthorized taking. *State v. Field, Me.*, 379 A.2d 393, 395 (1977), *Louk*, at 435.

As the facts in this case are rather simple and straight forward the only evidence that Petitioner unlawfully or feloniously broke or entered into the Goins' home was the testimony of Jerry Goins Jr., who stated that he without any previous arrangement went next door and invited Petitioner and Laney over to his home. They were there as friends with him to shoot pool and drink. Goins further stated that he did not see Petitioner take any property from his home nor did

he suspect a theft, or property being missing, during their visit. The only suspicious fact offered was Petitioner was looking through his mother's closet. AR 61-68. A fact that does not equate to larceny or the other felony requirement for burglary.

To warrant interference with a verdict of guilt on the ground of insufficiency of evidence, the court must be convinced that the evidence was manifestly inadequate and that consequent injustice has been done." Syl. pt. 1, *State v. Starkey*, 161 W.Va. 517, 244 S.E.2d 219 (1978).

3. The Circuit Court Erred in Not Granting Petitioner's Motion for Acquittal for the Charge of Grand Larceny

•

Petitioner's then counsel consistently objected to any evidence that was speculative and not supported by physical evidence relating to the existence or value of goods allegedly taken. The State offered personal items on a list that were never substantiated and some of which were not listed on the indictment. AR 71, 80-81, 158.

Questions to the Court from the jury, evince that even jury was unsure on how to place a value on the property allegedly taken. Moreover, those same notes indicate that the jury improperly considered the Petitioner's silence in reaching its verdict. AR 252-253.

In *State, ex rel. Day v. Silver*, 556 S. E. 2d 820, 210 W. Va. 175 (2001), this Court reversed a lower court's finding that an indictment was sufficient even though it did not list the items stolen or their values. That an indictment charging larceny and destruction of property needed to itemize or describe the property alleged stolen and destroyed; the indictment failed to allege an essential element and did not provide sufficient information for preparing a defense and pleading a conviction as a bar to later prosecution for the same offense. In citing an earlier ruling

the *Day* Court held "the indictment before us in no way lists, defines, or describes the property the petitioner is accused of stealing and destroying". This Court enumerated the components of grand larceny in *State v. Goodnight*, 169 W.Va. 366, 367, 287 S.E.2d 504, 506 (1982), as being "jurisdiction, date, specific property, value, owner, intent, taking and asportation[.]"

An element of larceny is an itemization or description of the property the accused is charged with stealing. The indictment lacks an essential element. The Petitioner was put on notice as to what property he was accused of stealing and destroying; therefore, he did not have sufficient information to prepare his defense and plead his conviction as a bar to later prosecution for the same offense. *Day* at 825.

Like the *Day* case, the instant case does not inform the Petitioner the value of the goods taken or their identity. The Indictment states that Petitioner took "numerous household items, makeup, purses, class ring, pendant and assorted jewelry and coins" it does not list a value of each item and the identity of the goods is lacking. AR 7-8. As evinced by Petitioner's then counsel, many of the items were never disclosed to Petitioner, nor were the items values understood. AR 17 & 74 Counsel objected to the supposed list of missing items, as there was no foundation laid that any of those items were actually missing or allegedly stolen by Petitioner. Jerry Goins, Sr. testified that he was missing a class, a \$2,000.00 drill and \$700-\$800 worth of his clothing. A review of the indictment does not mention Jerry Goins Sr. as a victim of larceny, nor does it contain the property he now claims to have been stolen – a clear violation of the *Day* decision.

Melissa Goins testimony was not consistent with the items listed on the indictment. Melissa Goins testified that she couldn't give an exact number but she had as many as 10 purses

gone . . . some were Coaches, Dolces Gabanna, Vera Bradley and then some others. She further testified that lots of shirts and jewelry, some costume jewelry, five, six bracelets or maybe [more] and her "guestimation" about five or six rings, a lot of other jewelry earrings and necklaces. AR 78-79. How was Petitioner able to defend herself with the indictment so flawed in view of Melissa Goins' testimony? Her testimony in comparison with the indictment is a violation of the *Day* decision.

1. Te

State v Cooper 161 S.R. 30, 111 W. Va. 255 (1931) held that a count in an indictment charging larceny of five tires of a certain value was insufficient as a description of stolen property. *State v. Criss*, 23 S. E. 2d, 125 W. Va. 225 (1931) held that the use of the word approximate in connection with value in an indictment for larceny where value is material in determining the degree of the offense is fatal. *State v Boswell*, 148 W. E. 1, 107 W. Va. 213 (1929). Market value, if any, of the things stolen as at time and place of theft, must be proven to sustain grand larceny charge.

The State's case violated the precedent of these earlier cases. It seems that each witness had a different figure or valuation on what property was taken or missing, as well as a different belief as to what was stolen. As alluded to earlier, Jerry Goins, Sr. whose not listed as a victim of larceny, nor were his items listed on the indictment, testified that he lost: \$2,000.00 worth of jewelry; a \$2,000.00 drill; a \$208 class ring; and \$700 - \$800 in clothing. AR 73. Melissa Goins lost: about \$3,000 - \$4,000 worth of purses, even though she was not sure how many purses were taken; shirts, husband's jackets and jean which averaged \$35 - \$150 - \$160 for the shirts; or other shirts worth between \$75-150; her clothes worth \$5,000 - \$6,000; jewelry worth \$7,000.00; eight bras worth \$40 each; makeup; a camcorder. That all of her missing items totaled

\$17,000.00. AR 79-83. In redirect by the State, Melissa Goins testified she knew exactly what was missing. AR 98.

5. S

Trooper Shifflette testified that he believed the items were over \$1,000 and the property recovered was worth \$810, AR 154, and on cross examination he valued the same recovered property at \$820. AR 156-157.

The indictment and testimony was too speculative and any missing item, unless recovered, was not properly identified or valued. As recognized by the *Day* decision, how can Petitioner be confident she will not be tried again for this same offense, if it is later determined that the Goins had another purse, pair of jeans, or another box of costume jewelry missing? The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution consists of three separate constitutional protections. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal. It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. And it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense." Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Gill*, 187 W.Va. 136, 416 S.E.2d 253 (1992).

4. The Circuit Court Erred in Not Granting Petitioner's Motion for Acquittal for the Charge of Conspiracy

There exists no proof that Petitioner conspired with either Goins or Laney.

The only witness to issue was Jerry Goins, Jr., who testified that he was drinking alone that night and had some company come over to shoot pool. AR 62. Without any planning or forethought, he asked Petitioner and Laney to come over to drink and shoot pool. Petitioner and Laney were there for two hours and Goins did not see either one of them carry, or steal, anything from the house. AR 65-68. None of the other testimony established that Goins or Laney assisted, participated or counseled Petitioner in her alleged crimes.

a le

The evidence adduced at trial only established that Petitioner was present with Goins and Laney on the evening these crimes were allegedly committed. There was no evidence, sufficient or otherwise, to show that Petitioner or the others participated in the planning, preparation or commission of the crimes alleged. Moreover, there is no evidence to support a finding that Petitioner entered into any agreement to conspire with the others to commit the alleged crimes.

In order for the State to prove a conspiracy under W.Va. Code, 61-10-31(1), it must show that the defendant agreed with others to commit an offense against the State and that some overt act was taken by a member of the conspiracy to effect the object of that conspiracy." Syl. Pt. 9, in part, *State v. Bouie*, 235 W.Va. 709, 776 S.E.2d 606 (2015).

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court erred in finding that the evidence presented at trial was sufficient to establish proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt as to the charges of : breaking and entering; grand larceny; and conspiracy. Therefore this matter should be reversed, and this matter should be remanded and dismissed.

G. Todd Houck Counsel for Petitioner 5674