IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA OF WEST NO. 21-0424

FILE COPY

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

v.

CANDICE T. SALMONS,

Defendant Below, Petitioner.



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's oral motion for judgment of acquittal Wyoming County Circuit Court Case No. 16-F-71

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE M. SMITH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12787 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. East State Capitol Building 6, Suite 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830

Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: Katherine.M.Smith@wvago.gov

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence introduced by the State at trial was sufficient for a rational jury to convict Petitioner on all three counts. With respect to the burglary charge, the State provided sufficient evidence to prove that Petitioner, in the nighttime, entered without breaking the dwelling house of the victim, Melissa Goins, with the intent to commit a crime therein. See W. Va. Code § 61-3-11(a) (1993). The fact that the victim's son invited Petitioner into the victim's home does

not shield Petitioner from a burglary conviction. See Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Plumley, 181 W. Va. 685, 384 S.E.2d 130 (1989) ("The statutory requirement of entry [for burglary] is... fulfilled when a person with consent to enter exceeds the scope of the consent granted."); State v. Slater, 222 W. Va. 499, 504, 665 S.E.2d 674, 679 (2008) (citing Plumley for the determination "that consent to enter is not an absolute defense to a charge of burglary in the nighttime").

With respect to the grand larceny charge, the State provided sufficient evidence to sustain Petitioner's conviction. The victim testified to her missing personal property, some of which Petitioner sold to other individuals and the victim later recovered. The evidence revealed that Petitioner admitted to taking the victim's personal property from her home. The missing items included jewelry, purses, and makeup, the value of which, based on the victim's trial testimony, was well over \$1,000. See Syl. Pt. 4, in part, State v. Jerrome, 233 W. Va. 372, 758 S.E.2d 576 (2014) (providing that "[t]he owner of stolen property may offer evidence of its value" in the form of "the owner's reasonable belief as to its value"). The victim testified that she did not give anyone permission to borrow or take any of her property. Furthermore, insofar as Petitioner attempts to set forth an insufficient indictment claim with respect to the grand larceny charge, that attempt should be rejected by this Court. This appeal concerns the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's oral motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the State's case-in-chief. None of Petitioner's assignments of error raise an insufficient indictment claim and, notably, Petitioner did not present that claim to the circuit court below. Accordingly, this Court should refuse to consider it.

Finally, from the evidence presented, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, see Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995), the jury could infer that Petitioner agreed with David Laney to commit the offense of burglary and that Petitioner took

an overt act in furtherance of that conspiracy, see Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Less, 170 W. Va. 259, 294 S.E.2d 62 (1981).

As held by this Court, "a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (emphasis added). The evidence presented by the State supports the jury's finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt as to all three counts. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's oral motion for judgment of acquittal.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is not warranted in this case as "the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument." W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(4). This case is suitable for memorandum decision.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Petitioner's assignments of error challenge the circuit court's denial of her oral motion for judgment of acquittal as to all counts.

The trial court's disposition of a motion for judgment of acquittal is subject to [this Court's] de novo review; therefore, this Court, like the trial court, must scrutinize the evidence in the light most compatible with the verdict, resolve all credibility disputes in the verdict's favor, and then reach a judgment about whether a rational jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 304, 470 S.E.2d 613, 623 (1996).

The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the

prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

. . . .

A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court. Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Syl. Pts. 1 and 3, Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The evidence in support of the burglary charge was sufficient for a rational jury to convict Petitioner.

Petitioner's argument in support of her first assignment of error is that the State did not prove the breaking element to support the burglary charge and that no one witnessed her take any property from the victim's home. (See Pet'r's Br. 5–6.) Petitioner contends she was a guest who was invited to the victim's home by Jerry Goins, Jr., the victim's son, to "shoot pool and drink." (Pet'r's Br. 5.)

The May 2016 indictment alleges that Petitioner committed burglary on November 26, 2015. (App. 7.) Therefore, the 1993 version of West Virginia Code § 61-3-11 applies. See Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Easton, 203 W. Va. 631, 510 S.E.2d 465 (1998) ("The statute in force at the time of the commission of an offense governs the character of the offense, and generally the punishment prescribed thereby, unless, as provided by our statute, the defendant elects to be punished as

11

⁸ Section 61-3-11 was amended in 1973, 1993, and 2018. See W. Va. Code § 61-3-11 (credits).

provided in an amendment thereof." (internal quotation omitted) (quoting Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Wright*, 91 W. Va. 500, 113 S.E. 764 (1922))). The 1993 version of § 61-3-11(a) provided, in pertinent part, "If any person shall, in the nighttime, break and enter, *or enter without breaking* ... the dwelling house ... of another, with intent to commit a crime therein, he shall be deemed guilty of burglary." W. Va. Code § 61-3-11(a) (1993) (emphasis added).

First, to the extent that Petitioner argues she was an invited guest in the victim's home and, therefore, could not have been convicted of burglary (see Pet'r's Br. 5), that argument has been rejected by this Court. In State v. Plumley, the petitioner claimed that because he was "voluntarily allowed" into the victim's home, "the trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider the burglary charge." 181 W. Va. at 688, 384 S.E.2d at 133. In concluding that authorized entry is not a defense, this Court advised: "Because the legislature has deleted the 'breaking' requirement with regard to entry in the nighttime, the statutory offense of burglary of the dwelling house of another involves no unlawfulness of entry except as the entry becomes unlawful by reason of the criminal intent of the person entering." Id. at 689, 384 S.E.2d at 134. "The statutory requirement of entry [under § 61-3-11(a)] is . . . fulfilled when a person with consent to enter exceeds the scope of the consent granted." Id. at Syl. Pt. 1. This Court has held that even for the crime of daytime burglary by breaking and entering under West Virginia Code § 61-3-11(a) (1993), unauthorized entry is not required. Syl. Pt. 4, Slater, 222 W. Va. 499, 665 S.E.2d 674.

-

⁹ Plumley addressed the 1973 version of § 61-3-11(a). The only difference between the 1973 and 1993 versions of the statute is that, under the 1973 version, the burglary must have been committed "with [the] intent to commit a felony or any larceny therein." W. Va. Code § 61-3-11(a) (1973). The 1993 version required that the burglary be committed "with [the] intent to commit a crime therein." W. Va. Code § 61-3-11(a) (1993).

Petitioner cites to *State v. Louk*, 169 W. Va. 24, 285 S.E.2d 432 (1981), in support of her argument that a "burglary is complete once there has been an unauthorized entry and a showing that there was an intent to commit a felony." (Pet'r's Br. 5.) In *Slater*, this Court

f[ou]nd the statement in *Louk* upon which the appellant relie[d], that "burglary is complete once there has been an unauthorized entry[,]" to be dicta. Significantly, this language from *Louk*, which applied to both nighttime and daytime burglary, was later criticized by the Court in *State v. Wallace*, 205 W. Va. 155, 517 S.E.2d 20 (1999), in which we opined that "[i]t is by no means clear that [the] nighttime burglary statute requires an unauthorized entry." 205 W. Va. at 161 n.10, 517 S.E.2d at 26 n.10.

222 W. Va. at 504 n.1, 665 S.E.2d at 679 n.1. Thus, because invited or authorized entry is not a defense, Petitioner's argument fails in this respect.

Second, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Petitioner entered the victim's dwelling house, in the nighttime, with the intent to commit a crime therein. See W. Va. Code § 61-3-11(a) (1993). "It is well settled . . . that such intent may be inferred by the jury from the facts and circumstances of the case." Syl. Pt. 3, in part, State v. Ocheltree, 170 W. Va. 68, 289 S.E.2d 742 (1982).

In this case, the evidence demonstrated that prior to the burglary and larceny on November 26, 2015, Petitioner and the victim maintained a friendship. (App. 62, 93.) The victim had known Petitioner's "family for quite a while." (App. 93.) At some point in time, however, the victim told Petitioner that she was not allowed in her home. (App. 83.) The victim expressed to law enforcement her "belief that [Petitioner] had been in her residence more than once taking her belongings." (App. 218; see also App. 224, 230.)

At trial, the victim's son, Jerry Goins, Jr., testified that on the night¹⁰ of November 26, 2015, he walked over to Petitioner's residence and invited both Petitioner and David Laney over

¹⁰ Trooper Shifflett testified that the crimes were committed "around midnight." (App. 149.)

to his parents' home to drink and "shoot some pool." (App. 62–63.) While he was at Petitioner's residence, Jerry Goins, Jr., informed Petitioner and David Laney "that his parents weren't home." (App. 216; see also App. 222, 228.) When the three returned to the victim's house, Jerry Goins, Jr., and David Laney began to drink and play pool, but Petitioner was "in and out" of that area. (App. 63.) Petitioner "went through the house to use the bathroom a couple of times" and "each time she went to the bathroom it was for a long period of time." (App. 216; see also App. 63, 222, 228.) When Jerry Goins, Jr., went looking for Petitioner, he found her in his mother's "bedroom closet" (App. 216; see also App. 63, 65) "looking through clothes" (App. 65). Shortly after Jerry Goins, Jr., located Petitioner in his mother's closet, Petitioner told David Laney she was ready to leave. (App. 216; see also App. 222, 228.)

The following morning, Jerry Goins, Jr., "noticed cabinet doors being open" (App. 64) and that things were "rummaged" (App. 67). No one else had been inside the home other than himself, Petitioner, and David Laney, and no one else had access to his mother's property. (App. 64, 68.)

When the victim returned with her husband from their trip to Tennessee, she knew someone had been in her home. (App. 70, 78.) She "knew exactly what was missing." (App. 67.) The victim's jewelry, makeup, and purses were gone. (See App. 72–73, 78–79, 81–82.) She was able to recover some, but not all, of her stolen property (App. 84), including two purses, costume jewelry, and Mary Kay makeup, from Tina Riffe (see App. 84–85, 91, 110–12, 209–10). Ms. Riffe testified that she purchased the victim's property from Petitioner (App. 109–12) and informed law enforcement that "the day after she bought the purses from [Petitioner], [Petitioner] contacted her and told her not to be seen with the purses because they were stolen from [the victim's] residence" (App. 218; see also App. 224, 230). The victim recovered more of her personal belongings,

including Mary Kay makeup, two purses, and a bracelet, from Kelly West (App. 84–86, 112–14, 211), which Ms. West also purchased from Petitioner (see App. 112–14).

Based on the above, Petitioner cannot plausibly maintain that there was "no evidence ... from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt" as to her burglary conviction. See Syl. Pt. 3, Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163. Because Petitioner does not meet the "heavy burden" announced by this Court in Syllabus Point 3 of Guthrie, and because the evidence supports guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal as to the burglary charge.

B. The evidence in support of the grand larceny charge was sufficient for a rational jury to convict Petitioner.

Petitioner contends that because some of the goods allegedly stolen from the victim's home were either not recovered or were "not properly identified" and because the victim's valuation of the goods was allegedly "speculative," the evidence was insufficient for the jury to find her guilty of grand larceny. (See Pet'r's Br. 6, 8–9.) Petitioner further argues what appears to be an insufficient indictment claim (see Pet'r's Br. 6–8), but that claim is improperly before this Court.

1. Petitioner's argument regarding the sufficiency of the indictment with respect to her grand larceny charge should not be considered.

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal. (App. 159–62, 164–65.) The circuit court denied Petitioner's motion (App. 165) and, here, Petitioner appeals that denial (see Pet'r's Br. 1, 4).

Under Rule 29 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure,

The court on motion of a defendant or of its own motion shall order the entry of judgment of acquittal of one or more offenses charged in the indictment or information after the evidence on either side is closed if the evidence is insufficient to sustain a conviction of such offense or offenses.

W. Va. R. Crim. P. 29(a) (emphasis added). Motions for judgment of acquittal do not attack the sufficiency of an indictment, but rather contest the sufficiency of the State's evidence at trial. *See* W. Va. R. Crim. P. 29(a). Insofar as Petitioner attempts to challenge the sufficiency of her indictment through a motion for judgment of acquittal, that attempt should be rejected.

Moreover, Petitioner's second assignment of error specifically sets forth a sufficiency of the evidence claim. (*See* Pet'r's Br. 1; *see also* Pet'r's Br. 4 (summarizing argument).) None of Petitioner's assignments of error in her Brief set forth an insufficient indictment claim (*see* Pet'r's Br. 1) and none of Petitioner's assignments of error raised in her Amended Notice of Appeal set forth an insufficient indictment claim as to the grand larceny charge (*see* Dec. 21, 2021 Am. Notice of Appeal at 6–7¹¹). Therefore, Petitioner's insufficient indictment argument, found on pages six through nine of her Brief, should be disregarded. *Cf. Canterbury v. Laird*, 221 W. Va. 453, 457–58, 655 S.E.2d 199, 203–04 (2007) (declining to consider argument that "was first raised in [petitioner's] brief" and not raised as "an assignment of error in his petition for appeal to this Court"); *Conrad v. Council of Senior Citizens of Gilmore Cnty., Inc.*, No. 14-1262, 2016 WL 6778918, at *2 n.3 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 16, 2016) (memorandum decision) (same).

Furthermore, the record demonstrates that Petitioner did not argue below, and the circuit court did not consider, any insufficiency of the indictment claim with respect to the grand larceny charge. (See App. 159–62, 164–65; see generally App.) As such, this Court should refuse to address the issue on appeal in the first instance. See, e.g., Syl. Pt. 3, Voelker v. Frederick Bus. Props. Co., 195 W. Va. 246, 465 S.E.2d 246 (1995) ("In the exercise of its appellate jurisdiction, this Court will not decide nonjurisdictional questions which were not considered and decided by the court from which the appeal has been taken." (internal quotations and citations omitted)); Syl.

¹¹ The pinpoint citation to the Amended Notice of Appeal is based on a manual page count.

Pt. 1, in part, *State v. Baker*, 169 W. Va. 357, 287 S.E.2d 497 (1982) ("[E]rrors assigned for the first time in an appellate court will not be regarded in any matter of which the trial court had jurisdiction or which might have been remedied in the trial court if objected to there." (internal quotation and citation omitted)).

2. Count Two of the indictment is sufficient.

Notwithstanding these failures by Petitioner, a review of the indictment shows that the grand larceny charge is sufficient. Count Two provides

That on or about the 26th day of November, 2015 in Wyoming County, West Virginia, [Petitioner] committed the offense of "Grand Larceny" by unlawfully and feloniously stealing, taking and carrying away numerous household items, makeup, purses, class ring, pendant and assorted jewelry and coins a value of more than \$1,000.00 of the property of Melissa Goins, in violation of West Virginia Code 61-3-13a.

(App. 7.) "All components of grand larceny—i.e., jurisdiction, date, specific property, value, owner, intent, taking and asportation—are set out." See State v. Goodnight, 169 W. Va. 366, 367, 287 S.E.2d 504, 506 (1982). As this Court has recognized, "no particular form of words is required ... so long as the accused is adequately informed of the nature of the charge and the elements of the offense are alleged." State v. Hall, 172 W. Va. 138, 143–44, 304 S.E.2d 43, 48 (1983) (first citing Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rel. Whitman v. Fox, 160 W. Va. 633, 236 S.E.2d 565 (1977); then citing Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Casdorph, 159 W. Va. 909, 230 S.E.2d 476 (1976), receded from on other grounds by State v. Persinger, 169 W. Va. 121, 286 S.E.2d 261 (1982)). "[T]he sufficiency of an indictment is determined by practical rather than technical considerations." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588, 476 S.E.2d 535 (1996). Here, the indictment adequately informed Petitioner of the grand larceny charge against her.

3. The trial evidence demonstrated Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt as to grand larceny.

With respect to Petitioner's sufficiency of the evidence claim, West Virginia Code § 61-3-13(a) provides, in pertinent part: "If a person commits simple larceny of goods or chattels of the value of one thousand dollars or more, such person is guilty of a felony, designated grand larceny." "To support a conviction for larceny at common law, it must be shown that the defendant took and carried away the personal property of another against his will and with the intent to permanently deprive him of the ownership thereof." *State v. Tharp*, 184 W. Va. 292, 296, 400 S.E.2d 300, 304 (1990) (internal quotation omitted) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *Louk*, 169 W. Va. 24, 285 S.E.2d 432, *disapproved on other grounds by State v. Jenkins*, 191 W. Va. 87, 443 S.E.2d 244 (1994)).

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